THE IMPACT OF SEA-LEVEL RISE ON SALTWATER INTRUSION FOR COASTAL AQUIFERS IN NORTH CAROLINA

by

Nicholas Fiori

Honors Thesis

Appalachian State University

Submitted to the Department of Geological and Environmental Sciences and The Honors College in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Bachelor of Science

May, 2021

Approved by:

William P. Anderson Jr., Ph.D., Thesis Director

Bob Swarthout, Ph.D., Second Reader

Cole Edwards, Ph.D., Departmental Honors Director

Jefford Vahlusch, Ph.D., Dean, The Honors College

Abstract

The coast of North Carolina has been identified as a sea-level rise hotspot because the coastline experiences higher rates of sea-level rise compared to the global mean level. These rising sea levels will subsequently lead to increased saltwater intrusion for coastal aquifers in this area. In this study, a head-controlled scenario is used to conduct an analysis of saltwater intrusion for coastal North Carolina under various sea-level rise scenarios. A head-controlled scenario assumes that as sea level rises, the hydraulic head will remain the same. This is likely to be the case because of groundwater extraction, evapotranspiration, and a lack of vertical mobility possible at these sites. The northern section of the coastline is subsiding while the southern portion remains stable, so the rates of sea-level rise vary from north to south. In all locations, the movement of the saltwater toe inland occurs at an exponential rate as sea level rises. Factors such as hydraulic conductivity, the thickness of the aquifer, and recharge influence the steepness of this saltwater intrusion curve. This study finds that if sea levels rise in excess of 1 m then some North Carolina barrier islands could lose the entirety of their freshwater lenses.

Table of Contents

1. Introduction	4
2. Sites	6
3. Methods	8
3.1. Governing Equations	8
3.2. Recharge Generation	11
3.3. Aquifer Parameters	13
3.4. Sea-level Rise	13
4. Results	15
4.1. Duck	15
4.2. Site Analyses	17
4.3. Sensitivity Analysis	18
4.4. Hydraulic Gradient	20
4.5. Aquifer Volume Loss	20
5. Discussion	22
5.1. Variations Between Sound and Ocean	23
5.2. North Carolina Risk Maps	26
6. Conclusion	28
7. References	30

1. Introduction

Saltwater intrusion is the infiltration of saltwater into the freshwater lens of surficial aquifers in coastal settings. Research of the mechanisms that influence the extent of intrusion and the dynamics of the saltwater-freshwater interface has occurred since the late 1800s (Ghyben, 1888; Herzberg, 1901). Since then, mathematical techniques have been developed to enable more complex modeling of these same aquifers (Strack, 1976; Vacher, 1988b; Ferguson and Gleeson, 2012).

A driving force behind the increase of saltwater intrusion in coastal environments is rising sea levels as a result of climate change. The effect that sea-level rise has on saltwater intrusion is particularly evident in areas with lower hydraulic gradients (Ferguson and Gleeson, 2012). Areas such as the Outer Banks of North Carolina or the coast of Louisiana are at a higher risk of saltwater intrusion driven by sea-level rise as opposed to an area with higher hydraulic gradients such as the coast of Maine (Jasechko et al., 2020). The most recent IPCC report projects the global mean sea-level to rise between 0.43 meters and 0.84 meters by 2100 (Openheimer et al., 2019). All of the projections expect the rate at which sea level is rising to increase over the next century (Oppenheimer et al., 2019). The coast of North Carolina, which is the focus for this study, is expected to have an increase in sea level of around 1.1 meters by 2100 with sea levels expected to rise more in the north than the south (Sweet et al., 2017; NOAA, 2020).

A number of studies have shown that as saltwater rises along the coast it will subsequently lead to an increase in saltwater infiltration inland (Werner and Simmons, 2009; Ferguson and Gleeson, 2012; Carretero, 2013; Custodio, 1987). As sea-levels rise along the coast, the denser saltwater will rise above where the less dense freshwater lens was prior to the rise in sea level. This is particularly likely in the case of the Outer Banks and other southeastern U.S. coastlines that have highly-permeable sandy beaches. As saline water rises above the freshwater lens, the width of the freshwater lens will decrease. This will then lead to an increase in the rate of intrusion over time as well.

The extent of saltwater intrusion is driven by both human and natural factors. Some of these human-driven factors include groundwater extraction for consumption or various land-use changes such as housing developments that can lead to erosion. As natural barriers, such as dunes, erode it can lead to easier entry of saline water onto the land surface during overwash

events. Natural variables include aquifer parameters such as the thickness of the aquifer, hydraulic gradient, and hydraulic conductivity. While the focus for this study is on the natural variables, it is important to consider the expected social and financial costs of the intrusion as well. The existence of saltwater intrusion is not unnatural or problematic when occurring at natural rates. Problems have arisen now that roughly ten percent of the world's population lives in areas that are less than 10 meters above sea level (UN, 2017). Many of these communities rely on the freshwater lens of these aquifers to supply some amount of potable water. There are also increased pollution risks for these areas because as sea levels rise past septic systems, toxic chemicals can infiltrate the freshwater lens and flow towards the ocean. This exact scenario has already led to beach closures and animal die-offs along the East Coast of the U.S. (Ebbs et al., 2020). The consequences of sea-level rise and saltwater intrusion can have far-reaching effects.

There have been a number of studies that have looked at saltwater intrusion on a broad scale to evaluate which factors play key roles in influencing the extent of the intrusion (Werner and Simmon, 2009; Ferguson and Gleeson, 2012). There have also been site-specific studies done using particular hydrogeological parameters (Carretero, 2013). The present study looks more closely at the North Carolina coast and aims to project the extent of saltwater intrusion along this stretch of coastline under various sea-level rise scenarios. This is important because the coast of North Carolina is a sea-level-rise hotspot, meaning sea-level rise is anticipated to rise more quickly than global mean levels, and the freshwater lenses of these aquifers remain vital to the water supply for some of these communities (Gehrels et al., 2020). The loss of the freshwater lens will also damage coastal ecosystems where certain species are not able to survive in increasingly saline conditions. These highly-permeable, low hydraulic-gradient beaches are perfect sites for testing a new approach to a head-controlled aquifer system when there is a lack of water-table information readily available. Projecting saltwater intrusion under various sealevel rise scenarios using hydrogeological parameters specific to North Carolina is beneficial when trying to understand the areas of the North Carolina coast that are most at risk from rising seas.

2. Sites

The mainland coast of North Carolina is around 500 km long but off of the mainland is a roughly 300 km long barrier island chain running from north to south known as the Outer Banks. The Outer Banks lie as far as 50 km off the coast of mainland North Carolina and are generally less than 1.5 km in width. Cape Hatteras and Kitty Hawk are some exceptions, where the width of the island extends to around 3 km. The eastern side of the island chain borders the Atlantic Ocean, while the western side borders various sounds, with the most notable being Pamlico Sound and Albemarle Sound. Pamlico Sound has a salinity that is approximately 60% of seawater, so the dynamics between the freshwater-saltwater interface will be different on one side of the barrier island than the other (Anderson, 2002). Other studies have researched how variations in coastal elevation between the sound and ocean side of a barrier-island aquifer can influence dynamics, but for this study, the ocean-side of the aquifer will be the primary focus (Vacher, 1988a).

The permanent number of residents on the Outer Banks is around 60,000 people, but it has a highly-fluctuating tourist population with over 1.5 million people visiting the popular tourist destination of Cape Hatteras in 2019 (Hampton, 2019). Water is primarily supplied to this population by desalinating brackish water coming from the Yorktown Aquifer at a depth of around 100 meters (Tabb, 2020). Water treatment costs can be reduced by mixing this brackish water with fresh water from the many surficial aquifers along the coast. The projected increase in sea-level combined with worsening storms and overwash events pose significant threats to future tourism and property values along the Outer Banks because of flooding and storm risks. The Outer Banks are more developed along the northern and central portions of the chain, but the narrow width and low hydraulic gradients put the long-term future of the freshwater lenses anywhere along the Outer Banks in question.

The coast of North Carolina experiences a sub-tropical climate with summer temperatures averaging around 30° C and winter temperatures averaging around 12° C. Precipitation is higher during the summer months and the Outer Banks averages around 1470 mm of precipitation a year (NOAA, 2021). Climate is an important factor in any barrier island system because recharge to the freshwater lens of the aquifer from precipitation is the primary mechanism that keeps the freshwater-saltwater equilibrium intact. The measured precipitation values do not directly translate to recharge values for the aquifer because of factors such as evapotranspiration. Just as precipitation changes seasonally, so does evapotranspiration because as the temperature gets warmer plants extract more water from the ground. In addition to seasonal changes, there are yearly cycles such as El Niño and La Niña that can greatly influence precipitation along the coast of North Carolina (Anderson and Emanuel, 2010). These seasonal and yearly cycles cause a constantly fluctuating water table so it is important to consider that the steady-state conditions analyzed in this study look at a snapshot in time based on average values for precipitation and water-table elevations.

The focus of this study is on four locations spanning the entirety of the coast of North Carolina. The sites included are: Duck, Buxton, Emerald Isle, and Wilmington as shown in Figure 1. The only assumption that remains constant between the four locations is a constant recharge rate. Each site has an unconfined, surficial aquifer with unique hydrogeological characteristics that distinguish it from the others. The site-specific characteristics that influence the extent of saltwater intrusion in this study include: (1) the depth from the water table to the confining layer; (2) the projected sea-level rise at the aquifer's location; (3) the hydraulic conductivity of the aquifer; (4) the rate of groundwater discharge to the ocean at the site; and (5) the hydraulic gradient of the aquifer. These values come from known parameters published in other site-specific studies.



Fig. 1: The study area showing the four site locations emphasized in this study

3. Methods

3.1. Governing Equations

The analysis conducted in this study uses a modified technique for projecting the extent of salt-water intrusion, as shown in Werner and Simmons (2009), through the use of a quasi-2D steady-state analytical model. Werner and Simmons (2009) presented two approaches to studying the effects of sea-level rise on coastal aquifers: head-controlled and flux-controlled systems. A head-controlled system is a coastal aquifer system where hydraulic head remains constant even as sea level rises. This means that as sea level rises, the water table will not rise with it, so as a result hydraulic gradient will decrease in the aquifer. A flux-controlled system is a coastal aquifer where head rises at the same rate as sea-level rise to maintain a constant q value, or flux of fresh water to the ocean. The head-controlled approach was adopted rather than the flux-controlled approach for this analysis because of the type of aquifer system present along the Outer Banks: the low-elevation coastlines of North Carolina combined with highly-permeable hydrogeological conditions means that there would be little room for vertical mobility of the water table at these sites. There are also other natural factors that could explain a lack of rising water table, such as groundwater extraction or evapotranspiration (Carretero, 2013).

The assumption of a homogenous, isotropic, unconfined aquifer experiencing a constant recharge rate under steady-state conditions was used for this study. The Ghyben-Herzberg approximation of the dynamic relationship between fluids of different densities and the Dupuit approximation for horizontal flow were also used to determine projected saltwater intrusion values (Werner and Simmons, 2009). The specific technique used in this study varied from the Werner and Simmons (2009) approach due to a limitation on information about water-table elevations for these sites. Hydraulic head values (h) were generated for any point (x) using (Fetter, 2001):

$$h^{2} = \frac{R(M^{2} - (M - x)^{2})}{K(1 + \alpha)} , \qquad (1)$$

where *R* is the rate of recharge, *M* is the half-width of the site location, *K* is the hydraulic conductivity, and \propto is the density ratio between the fresh and saline water. The density ratio, \propto , comes from:

$$\alpha = \frac{\rho_f}{\rho_s - \rho_f},\tag{2}$$

where ρ_s is the density of the saltwater and ρ_r is the density of the freshwater. The density ratio is generally assumed to equal 40 but has been found to increase at near shore environments under certain *R* and *K* conditions as shown in Vacher (1988b). While the value for head shown above does not factor in an impermeable base, the formula consistently yielded head values close to certain known head values from sampling done at Emerald Isle (Sisco, 2013), Nags Head Woods (Emry, 1987), and Buxton (Anderson, 2000). The use of this formula for head values creates the assumption that the midpoint of the island is where the maximum height of the water table occurs. This assumption was used for model simplification purposes because sampling done on the Buxton Woods Aquifer shows lower head values on the northern side of the aquifer where vegetation is more abundant (Anderson, 2000). A higher abundance of vegetation in certain areas is one way that an asymmetrical water table can form. The value for head was then used to calculate the discharge per unit length (*q*) of coastline as (Ferguson and Gleeson, 2012):

$$q = Kb\left(\frac{h_M - SLR}{M}\right),\tag{3}$$

where *b* is the thickness of the aquifer below sea-level, h_M is the water table elevation at the midpoint of the barrier island, and SLR is the extent of sea-level rise. Initial simulations assume a sea-level rise value of 0 m. The value for b is influenced by sea-level rise and increases through a simple addition of the sea-level rise to the baseline aquifer depth. The position of the toe of the saltwater wedge is then found as (Lu et al., 2015):

$$X_{toe} = \frac{(1+\alpha)Kb^2}{2\alpha^2 q}, \qquad (4)$$

where X_{toe} is the distance from the coastline to the tip of the saltwater wedge along the base of the aquifer. This is the value that is used to determine the extent of saltwater intrusion into the aquifer. As mentioned previously for (3), the value for b will change based on increases in sealevel. While (3) does not account for recharge to the aquifer, recharge is factored into the determination of water-table elevation for (1). Due to the narrow width of the barrier islands along the Outer Banks, it is important to factor in the lost width of the aquifer due to rising sealevels. The lost width of one side of the aquifer is $\Delta Width$. This value exists at the point where the projected rise in sea-level meets the same point along the generated values for hydraulic head. These changes in aquifer width lead to adjusted values for X_{toe} because as the aquifer width decreases, the change in X_{toe} for each sea-level rise scenario will have to account for the change in the width from the starting point of the aquifer. This means that the adjusted X_{toe} values will equal X_{toe} plus the $\Delta Width$ for that sea-level rise scenario. The relationship between saltwater intrusion pre and post sea-level rise can be seen in Figure 2.



Fig 2: A conceptual diagram showing the terms used for calculating the extent of saltwater intrusion. The figure shows a before and after scenario where: (A) is the aquifer system at the baseline sea-level and (B) is the system after a rise in sea-level. The head-controlled system can be seen in this diagram because as sea-level rises, the starting line for intrusion will meet the water table where the new sea-level value occurs.

3.2. Recharge Generation

Recharge rates are generated for the sites using a combination of precipitation data and randomly generated inputs based on an analysis by Anderson and Emanuel (2010) that used Monte Carlo sampling to measure recharge fractions for various barrier island aquifer systems. Kurtzman and Scanlon (2007) found that wet El Niño and dry La Niña conditions had a significant influence on winter precipitation along the coast of North Carolina. Anderson and Emanuel (2010) took this a step further to find the influence that El Niño and La Niña conditions had on recharge rates to barrier islands in North Carolina. These factors were used to generate recharge fractions that gave estimates of recharge to barrier island aquifers in North Carolina. One model generated in their study was calibrated specifically to Hatteras Island, which is the same location as the Buxton site used in this study, as seen in Figure 1. Due to the central location of Buxton and the similar hydrogeological parameters of the sites, the same precipitation data and recharge values were applied to each of the four sites. The reader is referred to the two previous papers for more comprehensive information related to the influence of El Niño and La Niña on precipitation and recharge.

A recharge fraction is determined by taking a calibrated value of recharge and dividing it by precipitation (Anderson and Emanuel, 2010). A value for recharge can then be approximated by multiplying a seasonal precipitation value by a seasonal recharge fraction generated from Anderson and Emanuel (2010), as shown in Table 1.

Table 1:

The recharge fraction and precipitation values used for determining recharge to the aquifer.

	Recharge Fraction ^a	Standard Deviation ^a	Precipitation ^b [mm]
Winter	0.562	0.165	343.7
Spring	0.621	0.262	304.3
Summer	0.356	0.094	405.1
Fall	0.375	0.124	421.1

^a (Anderson and Emanuel, 2010)

^b (NOAA, 2021)

Precipitation values used in this study come from monthly normal values gathered from Cape Hatteras between 1981 - 2010 (NOAA, 2021). To account for uncertainty, 250 simulations were run for each season, generating random recharge fractions in each scenario. Seasonal values were added together to find annual recharge to the aquifer which yielded a mean value of 679.5 mm/yr. The overall range of recharge values from all simulations was a minimum value of 510.4 mm/yr and a maximum of 868.4 mm/yr. These values fit well within the expected range for barrier-island aquifers in this region (Anderson and Emanuel, 2010). It is important to note that while recharge and precipitation remain constant for future projections made in this study, climate change has been shown to affect regional precipitation values and is a point of consideration for any further research (Portmann, 2009).

3.3. Aquifer Parameters

The fundamental parameters influencing the projected amounts of saltwater intrusion into the freshwater lens of an aquifer for this study are: hydraulic conductivity (K), aquifer thickness (b), width of the barrier island, and recharge to the aquifer (R). It is assumed that recharge at each of the site locations will be identical due to their relative proximity because each site has a similar climate and each site has a similar land use and land cover. The parameters for the sites are shown in Table 2.

	K [m/d]	b [m]	Island Width [m]	Mean Max Head 2020 [m]
Duck ^a	10	15	1000	1.06
Buxton Woods ^b	21.2	24.5	3400	2.48
Emerald Isle ^c	4	14	1200	2.02
Wilmington ^d	15	13	1500	1.30
^a (Emry, 1987) ^b (Anderson, 2002)				

Table 2:

Hydrogeological parameters for the site locations.

^c (Sisco, 2013)

^d (Lautier, 1998)

The use of site-specific parameters works in two ways: (1) it allows for a comparison to be made between different sections of coastal North Carolina, and (2) it acts as a check on the governing equations because known head values from the studies can be compared to the modeled values for hydraulic head. The generated head values fit well within the expected values based on certain known values for hydraulic head at Emerald Isle (Sisco, 2013), Nags Head Woods (Emry, 1987), and Buxton (Anderson, 2000).

3.4. Sea-level Rise

Sea level is expected to rise at all points along the coast of North Carolina during the 21st century. With that said, the rate at which it is expected to rise varies between the northern and southern portions of the coast. The main cause of the sea-level rise variation is the rate of subsidence that happens at different rates along the North Carolina coast. The northern section of the coastline around Duck is experiencing subsidence, while the southern portion of the coastline around Wilmington is experiencing much more stable conditions (Overton et al., 2015). Table 3

shows vertical land movement at three of the study sites based on data acquired from tide gauge readings adjusted according to sea-level rise trends.

Table 3:

Rates of vertical land movement for some of the site locations. Table adapted from (Overton et al., 2015).

	Vertical Land Movement [mm/yr]	Coverage Dates	
Duck	-1.49 +/- 0.39	1978 - 2013	
Emerald Isle	-0.99 +/- 0.17	1953 - 2013	
Wilmington	-0.39 +/- 0.19	1935 - 2013	

Cape Lookout, which is slightly east of Emerald Isle, has been identified as the point at which coastal North Carolina sees an increase in the rate of subsidence (Overton et al., 2015). The 2015 North Carolina Sea Level Rise report found that tide gauge and geological data both support the conclusion that subsidence happens at a greater rate north of Cape Lookout as compared to south of Cape Lookout (Overton et al., 2015). This is important for this particular study because the site locations of Emerald Isle and Wilmington are south of this point while Buxton and Duck are located north of this point.

Most sea-level rise estimates project that sea-level will rise at an increasing rate over the next century (NOAA, 2020). The use of projected sea-level rise amounts helps to create a rough timeline of when certain model-calculated values for intrusion could occur. It is no longer a question of if sea-level is rising, but a question of when sea-level will rise to a particular point Table 4 shows the sea-level rise data used in this study.

Table 4:

		2040 [m]	2060 [m]	2080 [m]	2100 [m]
	Intermediate	0.25	0.52	0.84	1.19
Duck	Intermediate -Low	0.18	0.35	0.48	0.61
Buxton Woods	Intermediate	0.23	0.49	0.79	1.15
	Intermediate -Low	0.16	0.29	0.42	0.54
Emerald Isle	Intermediate	0.21	0.46	0.76	1.11
	Intermediate -Low	0.14	0.27	0.39	0.50
Wilmington	Intermediate	0.17	0.42	0.70	1.02
	Intermediate -Low	0.11	0.23	0.34	0.43

Projected sea-level rise values using NOAA intermediate scenario and the NOAA Intermediate-Low or "low" scenario (NOAA, 2020).

4. Results

4.1. Duck

To show the step-by-step nature for how the results were found, a detailed discussion of the site at Duck is shown first to illustrate the calculations that were performed for all of the sites. The analyses shown below were conducted for each of the 4 main sites shown in Section 4.2., and each of the 36 other sites generated for the risks maps in Section 5.2. The first step in this process requires the generation of water-table values based on recharge fractions from Anderson and Emanuel (2010). The cloud of water-table elevations resulting from the Monte Carlo simulations for recharge can be seen in Figure 3. It is not important to include more figures like Figure 3 for future years because the head values remain constant under the head-controlled scenario used in this study. The interface between saltwater and freshwater will move inland on either side of the aquifer as sea-level rises. Figure 4 shows the change in the inland migration of the saltwater toe as sea-level rises for each of the Monte Carlo simulations.



Fig 3: Cloud of projected water table values using the precipitation data from Hatteras and the recharge fractions from Anderson and Emanuel (2010) after 250 Monte Carlo realizations. The black line within the cloud is the mean predicted water-table profile based on all 250 realizations. The black lines on either side of the freshwater lens portion of the diagram are merely a diagrammatic showing of the freshwater/saltwater interface that would exist at the 2020 starting point for this study. It is important to point out that there is a 10x exaggeration of the y-axis for all values above the mean sea-level value at Duck in 2020 as shown by the red line. The red line will move upward along the figure at a rate equal to sea-level rise.



Fig 4: The change in ΔX_{toe} vs. SLR at Duck, NC for each of the 250 Monte Carlo simulations. Each ΔX_{toe} line shown above is based on a generated water-table shown in Figure 5. The darker line represents the mean value used for assessing sea-level rise scenario values shown in section 4.2.

As sea level rises, the rate of the inland migration of saltwater will increase exponentially as seen in Figure 4. This relationship is similar to results found from other studies of coastal aquifers that use head-controlled scenarios (Werner and Simmons, 2009; Carretero, 2013). This is important because not only is saltwater intrusion increasing at a non-linear rate as sea-level rises, but the most likely scenario for sea-level rise is that it will also increase at a non-linear rate over the next century. As the rate of sea-level rise increases, the rate of saltwater intrusion will also increase.

4.2. Site Analyses

Results for saltwater intrusion under the Intermediate and Intermediate-Low sea-level rise scenarios from NOAA (2020) for each site are shown below in Table 5. The values for ΔX_{toe} as sea-level rises at each of the sites can be seen in Figure 5.

Table 5:

Values of saltwater intrusion at each of the 4 sites after sea-level rise equal to the Intermediate and Intermediate-Low NOAA (2020) scenarios shown in Section 3.4. "Exceeds" means that the extent of intrusion exceeds the halfwidth of the island.

		2040 [m]	2060 [m]	2080 [m]	2100 [m]
D1	Intermediate	23.5	66.5	186.0	exceeds
DUCK	Intermediate -Low	15.9	36.5	58.3	88.5
Durton Wooda	Intermediate	24.1	58.1	110.3	203.8
Buxton woods	Intermediate -Low	16.3	31.2	48.1	65.7
Emerald Isle	Intermediate	7.1	18.0	36.8	74.5
	Intermediate -Low	4.5	9.4	14.6	20.1
Wilmington	Intermediate	12.9	38.7	85.5	197.8
	Intermediate -Low	8.0	18.2	29.3	40.0



Fig 5: ΔX_{toe} vs. SLR at each of the 4 sites emphasized in this study.

The model results shown in Figure 5 indicate that the modeled rates of saltwater intrusion at each site, from high to low, are Duck, Wilmington, Buxton, and Emerald Isle. The simulations suggest

that the increased width at Buxton and the lower hydraulic conductivity at Emerald Isle are the reasons that these two sites have lower projected rates of saltwater intrusion after sea-level rise. It is important to reiterate that the rates of sea-level rise will be different at each of the four sites. The x-axis shown in Figure 5 is SLR so each site will be move along its individual saltwater intrusion curve at different rates. This is particularly evident when comparing Buxton to Wilmington. While Wilmington exceeds Buxton in intrusion under 1 m of SLR, Buxton still experiences greater projected intrusion values under both Intermediate and Intermediate-Low scenarios by 2100.

4.3. Sensitivity Analysis

It is important to consider variations in the fundamental parameters that could be present in aquifer systems along the coast of North Carolina. Data from prior literature on coastal North Carolina has K values ranging from 4 to 21.2 m/d, b values ranging from 13 to 24.5 m, and recharge rates ranging from 510.4 to 868.4 mm/yr. It is valuable to see how variations in these parameters influence the modeled trends for saltwater intrusion within this system as shown in Figures 6 through 10.





In all scenarios, when aquifer thickness (b) or hydraulic conductivity (K) increases, the intrusion curve increases in steepness. When the rate of recharge (R) decreases, the intrusion curve also increases in steepness. In addition, when R is greater, the height of the water table increases, but when K is greater the height of the water table decreases. These findings make sense based on the widely accepted understanding of these hydrogeological parameters. Out of all the varied parameters hydraulic conductivity has the largest impact on projected saltwater intrusion and modeled water-table elevations. Water table profiles with variations in b were not

Nicholas Fiori

shown because under the formulas shown in the Methods section the water table remains at a constant profile.

4.4. Hydraulic Gradient

As sea-level rises, the hydraulic gradient will decrease for each of these aquifer systems. As hydraulic gradient decreases, flow per unit length of coastline (q) will also decrease. This is important because the outward flow of water towards the ocean plays a major role in keeping the saltwater/freshwater interface in place and also influences nearshore water quality. If sea level is rising and water flowing towards the sea decreases, then the chemistry of the nearshore environment will change. Coastal ecosystems will be impacted by this relatively quick increase in salinity. Ferguson and Gleeson (2012) used a hydraulic gradient of 0.001 as a cutoff point for determining when saltwater inundation will become particularly severe. Saltwater inundation is the landward migration of the coastline while saltwater intrusion is the landward migration of the saltwater toe (Ferguson and Gleeson, 2012). This is factored into calculations done in this study by decreasing aquifer width as sea-level rises. Table 6 shows the estimated year and the amount of sea-level rise required for each site to pass the 0.001 cutoff.

Table 6:

Values for site specific sea-level rise and the estimated year at which the gradient at each site is expected to go below the 0.001 cutoff. The Intermediate scenario from NOAA (2020) was used to find the estimated year as it is the more likely of the two sea-level rise scenarios used in this study. Emerald Isle is blank in the above table because the site does not cross the 0.001 cutoff prior to 2100.

	SLR [m]	Estimated Year
Duck	0.57	2065
Buxton Woods	0.79	2081
Emerald Isle	-	-
Wilmington	0.56	2070

4.5. Aquifer Volume Loss

As sea-level rises, the freshwater content of the aquifer will decrease as saltwater infiltrates. Fresh water in these surficial aquifers is an important source of clean water for coastal communities, so it is important to project the loss of this resource. A simple integration was run at each site to find the aquifer volume remaining per unit width at any given moment as sea level rises and saltwater intrusion increases. The volume in this instance is of a 1-meter wide slice of the aquifer and not of the full volume of each study site. The percentage of fresh water remaining in each coastal aquifer compared to the 2020 amount under the sea-level rise scenarios is shown

in Table 7. The percentage of aquifer volume remaining per unit width at each site is shown in Figure 11.

Table 7:

Values for the estimated percent of aquifer area remaining under Intermediate and Intermediate-Low sea-level rise scenarios from NOAA (2020). Exceeds in this instance does not necessarily mean a complete loss of freshwater but a small amount where fresh water no longer extends to the base of the aquifer.

		2040 [%]	2060 [%]	2080 [%]	2100 [%]
D1	Intermediate	94.4	79.4	39.5	exceeds
Duck	Intermediate-Low	96.7	90.1	82.4	71.4
Duvton Woods	Intermediate	98.9	96.5	92.0	83.8
Buxton woods	Intermediate-Low	99.4	98.5	97.3	95.9
Emorald Isla	Intermediate	99.0	96.1	90.3	79.2
Ellieraid Isle	Intermediate-Low	99.5	98.5	97.2	95.5
Wilmington	Intermediate	98.3	91.9	78.1	47.8
	Intermediate-Low	99.1	97.2	94.4	91.5



Fig 11: Percentage of aquifer volume remaining vs. SLR at the 4 sites emphasized in this study.

The results for the analysis of percent of volume remaining per unit width, much like the analysis of ΔX_{toe} vs. SLR, show an exponential change as sea-level rises. The lower hydraulic conductivity at Emerald Isle and the increased aquifer width at Buxton insulate these two sites from the worst effects of rising sea levels and saltwater intrusion. These results emphasize the

Nicholas Fiori

concerns for Duck, because not only is sea level rising the quickest in that location, but it also is projected to lose its aquifer volume at the highest rate compared to the other sites in this study. It is also important to consider that while this study, like most coastal aquifer studies, uses a sharp interface between freshwater and saltwater, it is more likely that a wider mixing zone will form between the two. This means that some of the area considered to be freshwater in this study, is likely more saline than normal freshwater.

5. Discussion

As sea level rises, the fresh water in coastal aquifers is under increasing threat. The mechanism used in this study to determine the extent of intrusion is based on the migration of the saltwater toe into the freshwater lens. This is the distance from the original coastline in 2020 to where the saltwater/freshwater interface connects with the impermeable base of the aquifer. While this method is commonly used for projecting intrusion, it relies on a number of assumptions that may not fully account for all of the potential future risks of saltwater intrusion.

One of these assumptions is of a sharp interface between saltwater and freshwater. While this is a common assumption made in coastal aquifer studies, a more realistic scenario is one where there is a transition zone that moves from saline to fresh water in a non-instantaneous manner. The use of a sharp interface discounts the influence of tidal processes, waves, and severe storms on the salinity of the aquifer in the nearshore environment. This influence can be negligible in situations where the aquifer has a large width, but this is not necessarily the case for narrow barrier-island aquifer systems. With that said, the use of a sharp interface model can still yield important information regarding the potential future trends for water loss in these coastal aquifers.

Another assumption made in this study that will be explored later in this section is that the entirety of the aquifer is experiencing identical influences on the water-table. These influences could be human influences from pumping or land-use change affecting recharge, or they could be natural influences such as equivalent amounts of precipitation and evapotranspiration across the entirety of the landmass or even salinities between the adjacent water bodies. Figure 12 shows that these factors not only influence the height of the water table, but also where the highest elevation of the water table occurs. In most cases, information outside the scope of this study would be required to make any kind of accurate adjustment to the model.

Nicholas Fiori

It is important to note that the influence of sea-level rise on saltwater entering the freshwater lens is not limited to saltwater intrusion. Climate change will not only cause rising sea levels, but will also cause more frequent and more intense natural disasters such as hurricanes and tropical storms (Collins et al., 2019). Hurricanes can cause overwash events which will lead to saline water infiltrating the freshwater lens from the top rather than directly from the coastline. Anderson (2002) found that chloride concentrations in the Buxton Woods Aquifer at Cape Hatteras can remain above the maximum contaminant levels (MCL) allowed in drinking water for over a month after severe overwash events. In instances where overwash events occur in quick succession, chloride concentrations can remain above the MCLs for over 100 days (Anderson, 2002) or never reach the idealized freshwater lens (Anderson and Lauer, 2008). As sea-level rise causes hydraulic gradients to decrease under the head-controlled system, it makes sense to assume that overwash events will worsen for these aquifer systems. While saltwater intrusion will steadily increase over the next century, it is important to consider the worsening and more frequent overwash events that will also increase salinity within these coastal aquifers.

5.1. Variations Between the Sound and Ocean

Figure 1 shows that the barrier-island chain of the Outer Banks is often adjacent to different bodies of water on either side. In the northern and central section of the coast, the Outer Banks have Albemarle or Pamlico Sound on the western side and the Atlantic Ocean on the eastern side. The differences in these bodies of water can have an influence on water-table profiles, as well as other natural factors not directly considered in this study such as varying tidal conditions, salinities, wave influence, and the ease of overwash.



Fig 12: Two different water-tables for Buxton, NC. The black line indicates the modeled water-table generated in this study and the red indicates mean water-table values from Anderson et al. (2000).

The biggest visual distinction between the two is the difference in symmetry. The modeled water table assumes that each side of the barrier-island is exactly the same and is completely uniform. The actual water-table data are affected by more real-world factors where the assumption of uniformity does not practically apply. While the modeled water table generated from this study has a higher elevation than the mean well data, it is well within a reasonable range based on mean water-table values shown in Anderson et al. (2000). At Buxton there is more vegetation on the north side of the island as compared to the southern section, so evapotranspiration rates are higher. There are also multiple drainage ditches along the northern section of the island that drain water from the northern section of the aquifer (Anderson et al., 2000). These factors have an effect on the aquifer and this is shown in Figure 12 because the maximum water-table value is not directly in the center, but it is shifted to the south by approximately 500 meters.

Table 8:

Model outputs for Buxton, North Carolina, when the maximum water table elevation is moved 500 m towards the southern section. M is equal to the half-width of the island.

	M [m]	Hydraulic Gradient	q [m²/d]	X _{toe} [m] *
Northern Section	2200	0.00113	0.59	165.6
Southern Section	1200	0.00207	1.08	151.5
Uniform Aquifer	1700	0.00146	0.76	214.6

* X_{toe} for the Northern Section uses a different density ratio (2) because Pamlico Sound is only around 60% the salinity of the Atlantic Ocean.

The values for "Uniform Aquifer" in Table 9 are the starting values in 2020 under the baseline conditions used throughout this study. The Northern and Southern sections are adjusted baseline conditions for 2020 when certain real-world factors are considered. The mid-point of the aquifer was adjusted 500 m to the South to line up more closely to the well data shown in Figure 12. Another important characteristic that was considered was the different density ratios between the Northern and Southern sections of the aquifer. Pamlico Sound is around 60% the salinity of seawater so the density ratio for the northern part of the island is around 66.7 while the southern section used the established seawater/freshwater density ratio of 40.

The Southern section of the island is expected to experience less saltwater intrusion when the maximum water-table elevation is shifted 500 m south. This makes sense because a movement of the maximum water-table elevation will cause an increase in hydraulic gradient for that side of the island. Increasing hydraulic gradient leads to an increase in q, and this increase in q will lead to a decrease in intrusion. The inverse of this is true for the Northern section of the island but with one important caveat: the density ratio is different when salinity is different. Under normal density ratio conditions, the northern section of the island would have had an X_{toe} value of 277.7 m. This, however, is not the case, because as mentioned above, Pamlico Sound is only 60% the salinity of seawater. An increase in density ratio, caused by a decrease in density, will lead to a decreases, there will be less of a gravitational force pushing against the fresh water by the saline water. One factor not considered in this study is that there could be a variation in the sea levels on either side of the barrier island. If sea level is higher on one side of the island when compared to the other side, then it will lead to an asymmetrical water table that

Nicholas Fiori

shifts toward the side with lower water levels (Vacher, 1988a). There is room to explore the potential influence of unequal sea-levels on saltwater intrusion in further research.

5.2. North Carolina Risk Maps

The final step taken for this study was to do a general overview for the entirety of the North Carolina coast. This was done by taking the aquifer parameter values in Table 2 and interpolating K, b, and SLR values between each of the emphasized site locations. A couple site locations were also generated north of Duck, and south of Wilmington by extrapolating the same parameter trends in those directions. It should be noted that the SLR values used for these risk maps is the Intermediate scenario values from NOAA (2020). The final values required for these new extrapolated sites are aquifer width values. With the assumption that hydraulic head equals zero where the ocean meets the coastline, aquifer width values were equal to the width of the land. These width values were generated from a combination of measurements and estimations using Google Maps. In total, 36 new sites were derived from this process of interpolating and extrapolating for a total of 40 sites when including the original 4 locations.

With aquifer parameters generated for the 36 new sites, the same methods shown in Section 3 were conducted on each of the sites. This yielded saltwater intrusion values for all 36 new sites under projected sea-level rise values for 2040, 2060, and 2080. The determination of risk in this context comes from the percentage of aquifer width that is experiencing some amount of intrusion. These values were generated for each of the 40 sites in 2020, 2040, 2060, and 2080 by dividing the amount of total intrusion by the half-width of the site. In the case where the percentage exceeds 100, it is assumed that the freshwater lens no longer meets the base of the aquifer. The reason for this assumption is that based on the assumption of symmetry on either side of the island used in this study, meaning that the X_{toe} values would meet in the middle of the island and a connection to the base of the aquifer would be lost. The results from this analysis can be seen in Figures 13.



Fig. 13: Risk scores for each of the 36 generated sites, and the 4 known sites in 2020, 2040, 2060, and 2080.

While the generated parameters for the extrapolated sites rely on some significant assumptions, the trends that can be seen in Figure 13 are generally in line with what is to be expected based on the information shown earlier in this study. The southern section of the coast is generally at lower risk than the middle to northern portions of the coast. In most cases, the factor that led to the most significant increase in risk was the width of the section of coastline. A good example of this can be seen with the adjacent circles located directly below the Pamlico Sound label. These sites represent the eastern and western portions of Ocracoke Island and while it is difficult to see from the map, the width of these two sections are quite different. The eastern section is around 700 meters in width while the western section is around 2500 meters in width. This means that even though the sites have relatively similar hydrogeological parameters, the width of the eastern section leads to a more significant amount of intrusion relative to the width of that section of the island. This method could easily be used for other barrier-island dominated coastlines around the world and creates a good baseline for understanding which portions are at the most risk.

6. Conclusion

Due to climate change, sea level is expected to rise in most coastal areas around the world. The IPCC projects an increase in global mean sea level between 0.43 meters and 0.84 meters by 2100 (Openheimer et al., 2019). This, however, is not the case everywhere because certain areas, such as the coast of North Carolina, have been identified as a sea-level-rise hotspots that are influenced by local conditions (Gehrels et al., 2020). In the case of coastal North Carolina, sea level is expected to rise by approximately 1.1 meters by 2100 (NOAA, 2020). Understanding and projecting sea-level rise is important because it will have an impact on every single coastal aquifer in North Carolina.

Rising sea levels will lead to an increase in saltwater intrusion, which in this study is measured as the amount of landward migration by the saltwater toe. As sea-level rise occurs, the hydraulic gradient within coastal aquifers will decrease, leading to a decrease in outward flow of water. This decrease in flow per unit width (q) is a primary reason for the movement of the saltwater/freshwater interface because as the force pushing against the saline water decreases, the saline water will move inland. An increase in saltwater intrusion will have an effect on the freshwater resources that remain in these aquifers, which is relied on by many coastal communities.

The model used in this study works under the assumption of head-controlled conditions. This means that as sea-level rises, the hydraulic head will remain constant. This study found that under a head-controlled scenario, rising sea levels will lead to an exponential increase in saltwater intrusion for these coastal aquifers. These findings are consistent with past studies that use a head-controlled scenario (Werner and Simmons, 2009; Carretero, 2013). This exponential increase in intrusion is exacerbated by the fact that the rate of sea-level rise is anticipated to increase over the next century as well. Under intermediate sea-level rise projections for 2100, the increase in saltwater intrusion from 2020 values is expected to range between 74.5 m and 203.8 m at the 4 primary sites reviewed in this study. In the case of Duck, saltwater intrusion is expected to exceed the threshold at which the freshwater lens still connects with the base of the aquifer. This wide range of projections is due to key hydrogeological parameters that can have a major influence on an aquifer's ability to retain its freshwater lens.

Much like the projected intrusion values, the percentage of aquifer volume remaining per unit width also varies widely from site to site. The percentage of aquifer volume remaining per unit width is estimated to range between 83.8% and 47.8% by the year 2100 under Intermediate sea-level rise projections. In the case of Duck, the loss of the connection between the freshwater lens and the base of the aquifer at Duck can be interpreted as a nearly complete loss of aquifer volume at that particular site. As mentioned previously, it is important to consider the extreme likelihood of a mixing zone rather than a sharp interface so the percentage of aquifer volume remaining per unit width is likely a conservative estimate. While some of the communities in these coastal areas no longer exclusively rely on the freshwater lens for drinking water, the loss of this freshwater source will have a serious influence on coastal ecosystems.

The findings in this study provide a good framework for further research on the influence of sea-level rise on saltwater intrusion. Each coastal region has intricacies that are not easily integrated into one consistent model, but this model presents a method of quantifying saltwater intrusion risk in the cases of varying salinity, and in the case where there is a lack of well data for a particular coastal site. The results of this study show that the risk of saltwater intrusion cannot be assumed exclusively based on sea-level rise, but other key hydrogeological parameters can have a large influence on the migration of saltwater inland over time.

7. References

- Anderson, W. P., Evans, D. G., & Snyder, S. W. (2000). The effects of Holocene barrier-island evolution on water-table elevations, Hatteras Island, North Carolina, USA. *Hydrogeology Journal*, 8, 390-404.
- Anderson, W. P., Jr. (2002). Aquifer salinization from storm overwash. *Journal of Coastal Research*, 18(3), 413-420. West Palm Beach (Florida), ISSN 0749-0208.
- Anderson Jr., W.P., Lauer, R.M (2008), The role of overwash in the evolution of mixing zone morphology within barrier islands. *Hydrogeology Journal*, **16**, 1483–1495. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10040-008-0340-z
- Anderson, W. P., Jr., and R. E. Emanuel (2010), Effect of interannual climate oscillations on rates of submarine groundwater discharge, Water Resour. Res., 46, W05503, doi:10.1029/2009WR008212.
- Carretero, S., Rapaglia, J., Bokuniewicz, H., and Kruse, E. (2013). Impact of sea-level rise on saltwater intrusion length into the coastal aquifer, Partido de La Costa, Argentina. *Continental Shelf Research*. s 61–62. 62–70. 10.1016/j.csr.2013.04.029.
- Collins M., M. Sutherland, L. Bouwer, S.-M. Cheong, T. Frölicher, H. Jacot Des Combes, M. Koll Roxy, I. Losada, K. McInnes, B. Ratter, E. Rivera-Arriaga, R.D. Susanto, D. Swingedouw, and L. Tibig, (2019): Extremes, Abrupt Changes and Managing Risk. In: *IPCC Special Report on the Ocean and Cryosphere in a Changing Climate*
- Custodio, E. (1987), Studies and Reports in Hydrology: Groundwater Problems in Coastal Areas. United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization, Paris, pp. 344–372, Chapter 8.
- Ebbs, S., Griswold, L., Zee, G., and Schlosberg, J. (2020, October 16). Miami grapples with how to save treasured bay from rising seas and pollution. Retrieved February 03, 2021, from <u>https://abcnews.go.com/Politics/miami-grapples-savetreasured-bay-rising-seas-pollution/story?id=73610917</u>
- Emry, J.S. (1987) "The Hydrogeology of Nags Head Woods, Dare County, North Carolina" Master of Science (MS), thesis, Ocean/Earth/Atmos Sciences, Old Dominion University, DOI: 10.25777/tag4-rd81 https://digitalcommons.odu.edu/oeas etds/104
- Ferguson, G., Gleeson, T. (2012). Vulnerability of coastal aquifers to groundwater use and climate change. *Nature Clim Change* 2, 342–345 <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nclimate1413</u>
- Fetter, C. (2001). Chapter 8.8.2. In Applied Hydrology (4th ed., pp. 335-336). Upper Saddle River, NJ: Prentice Hall.
- Gehrels, W. R., Dangendorf, S., Barlow, N. L. M., Saher, M. H., Long, A. J., Woodworth, P. L., et al. (2020). A preindustrial sea-level rise hotspot along the Atlantic coast of North America. *Geophysical Research Letters*, 47, e2019GL085814. <u>https://doi.org/10.1029/2019GL085814</u>
- Ghyben, B.W. (1888). Nota in verband met de voorgenomen put- boring nabij Amsterdam (Notes on the probable results of the proposed well drilling near Amsterdam). Tijdschrift van het Koninklijk Institunt van Ingeniers, The Hague, 8–22.
- Hampton, J. (2019, October 27). Outer banks visitor SPENDING sets another record as more TOURISTS hit the beach. Retrieved February 09, 2021, from https://www.pilotonline.com/business/consumer/vp-nw-obx-numbers-reachesanother-record-20190821-6uwc4u2p5jb6xoucj4ax4p57vm-story.html
- Herzberg, A. (1901). Die Wasserversorgung einiger Nordseeb~ider (The water supply on parts of the North Sea coast in Germany). Journal Gabeleucht ung und Wasserversorg ung 44.
- Jasechko, S., Perrone, D., Seybold, H. *et al.* (2020) Groundwater level observations in 250,000 coastal US wells reveal scope of potential seawater intrusion. *Nat Commun* 11, 3229 <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-020-17038-2</u>
- Lautier, J. (1998). *Hydrogeologic Assessment of the Proposed Deepening of the Wilmington Harbor Shipping Channel, New Hanover and Brunswick Counties, North Carolin* (Tech.). NC: North Carolina Department of Environment, Health, and Natural Resources Division of Water Resources.

- Lu, C., Werner, A. D., Simmons, C. T., & Luo, J. (2014). A correction on coastal heads for groundwater flow models. *Groundwater*, 53(1), 164-170. doi:10.1111/gwat.12172
- NOAA sea level rise viewer. (2020). from https://coast.noaa.gov/slr/#/layer/sce/0/-8546923.36190655/4165915.9764845944/9/satellite/19/0.8/2020/inter/midAccretion
- NOAA (2021). Summary of Monthly Normals 1981-2010 (Rep.). CAPE HATTERAS BILLY MITCHELL FIELD, NC US USW00093729, NC. Retrieved from https://www.ncdc.noaa.gov/cdo-web/quickdata.
- Oppenheimer, M., B.C. Glavovic, J. Hinkel, R. van de Wal, A.K. Magnan, A. Abd-Elgawad, R. Cai, M. Cifuentes-Jara, R.M. DeConto, T. Ghosh, J. Hay, F. Isla, B. Marzeion, B. Meyssignac, and Z. Sebesvari, (2019): Sea Level Rise and Implications for Low-Lying Islands, Coasts and Communities. In: *IPCC Special Report on the Ocean and Cryosphere in a Changing Climate* [H.-O. Pörtner, D.C. Roberts, V. Masson-Delmotte, P. Zhai, M. Tignor, E. Poloczanska, K. Mintenbeck, A. Alegría, M. Nicolai, A. Okem, J. Petzold, B. Rama, N.M. Weyer (eds.)]. In press.
- Overton, M. (2015). North Carolina Sea Level Rise Report (Rep.). NC: N.C. Coastal Resources Commission Science Panel.
- Portmann, R. W., Solomon, S., & Hegerl, G. C. (2009). Spatial and seasonal patterns in climate change, temperatures, and precipitation across the United States. *PNAS*, 106(18), 7324-7329.
- Sisco, M. (2013). ASSESSING THE SHALLOW GROUNDWATER SYSTEM AS A POTENTIAL FACTOR IN GENERATING STORM-WATER RUNOFF ON A NORTH CAROLINA BARRIER ISLAND. *Master of Science* (*MS*), *Thesis*. doi:https://thescholarship.ecu.edu/bitstream/handle/10342/4225/Sisco_ecu_0600M_10984.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed =y
- Strack, O. D. L. (1976), A single-potential solution for regional interface problems in coastal aquifers, *Water Resour. Res.*, 12(6), 1165–1174, doi:<u>10.1029/WR012i006p01165</u>.
- Sweet, W., Kopp, R., Weaver, C., Obeysekera, J., Horton, R., Thieler, R., & Zervas, C. (2017). *Global and Regional Sea Level Rise Scenarios for the United States* (Technical Report NOS CO-OPS 083, Rep.). NOAA.
- Tabb, K. (2020, January 07). Outer banks water filtration how we get drinkable water- myobxhome. Retrieved February 09, 2021, from https://outerbankscoastallife.com/outer-banks-water-filtration/#:~
- Vacher, H.L., (1988a). Groundwater in barrier islands--theoretical analysis and evaluation of the unequal-sea level problem. Journal of Coastal Research, 4 (1), 139-148. Charlottesville (Virginia) ISSN 0749-0208.
- Vacher, H. L., (1988b), Dupuit-Ghyben-Herzberg analysis of strip-island lenses. *GSA Bulletin* 1988; 100 (4): 580–591. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1130/0016-7606(1988)100<0580:DGHAOS>2.3.CO;2</u>
- UN (2017). Factsheet: People and Oceans. New York City, NY: The Ocean Conference. doi:https://www.un.org/sustainabledevelopment/wp-content/uploads/2017/05/Ocean-fact-sheet-package.pdf

Werner AD, Simmons CT. (2009) Impact of sea-level rise on sea water intrusion in coastal aquifers. Ground Water. 2009;47(2):197-204. doi: 10.1111/j.1745-6584.2008.00535.x. Epub 2009 Jan 22. PMID: 19191886.